THE PLANT CELL CYCLE

Walter Dewitte and James A.H. Murray

Institute of Biotechnology, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 1QT, United Kingdom; email: w.dewitte@biotech.cam.ac.uk, j.murray@biotech.cam.ac.uk

Key Words cell division, CDK, cyclin, cyclin-dependent kinase, Arabidopsis

■ Abstract Cell division in plants is controlled by the activity of cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) complexes. Although this basic mechanism is conserved with all other eukaryotes, plants show novel features of cell-cycle control in the molecules involved and their regulation, including novel CDKs showing strong transcriptional regulation in mitosis. Plant development is characterized by indeterminate growth and reiteration of organogenesis and is therefore intimately associated with cell division. This may explain why plants have a large number of cell-cycle regulators that appear to have overlapping and distinct functions. Here we review the recent considerable progress in understanding how core cell-cycle regulators are involved in integrating and coordinating cell division at the molecular level.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	236
LANDMARKS OF THE PLANT CELL CYCLE	236
SYNCHRONOUS CELL SYSTEMS	237
GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF CELL-CYCLE CONTROL	238
CORE REGULATORS OF THE PLANT CELL CYCLE	241
Cyclin-Dependent Kinases	241
CDK-Activating Kinases	242
Cyclins	243
CDK Inhibitors	249
CDK Subunit	250
Retinoblastoma Protein	250
E2F	251
CELL-CYCLE TRANSITIONS AND PROGRESSION	251
From G ₁ Into S Phase	251
G ₂ /M Transition and Mitosis	252
Progression Through Mitosis	253
Endoreduplication	253
HORMONES AND THE CELL CYCLE	254
CONCLUSION	255

INTRODUCTION

Although it seems obvious today, the concept that the cells of an organism increase by the division of existing cells is relatively new because only in 1850 was it shown that cells originate by the cleavage of preexisting cells, and Virchow's aphorism *"omnis cellula e cellula"* (every cell from a preexisting cell) became the foundation of today's theory of tissue formation (78).

During the past two decades, substantial progress has been made in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms of cell proliferation, revealing that conserved or similar fundamental mechanisms are operational at the core of the cell-division cycle of all eukaryotes. However, current studies of developmental processes, coupled with the availability of whole genome sequences, have led to the view that the mechanisms of pattern formation have evolved independently in plants and animals (86). It is therefore to be expected that cell-cycle controls differ between plants and other groups, not only in their details but also in the mechanisms by which developmental and environmental influences on cell division interact with cell-cycle control. These plant-specific aspects of cell division are now starting to be unravelled, and in this review we survey our current knowledge of the molecular processes underlying cell division in plants and briefly address potential control mechanisms of the cell cycle by plant hormones.

LANDMARKS OF THE PLANT CELL CYCLE

The mitotic cell cycle encompasses four sequential ordered phases that temporally distinguish the replication of genetic material from the segregation of duplicated chromosomes into two daughter cells. Lag or gap (G) phases therefore separate the replication of the DNA (S phase) and the segregation of the chromosomes (M phase, mitosis). The G₁ phase (the first gap) intercedes between the previous mitosis and the entry into the next S phase, whereas the G₂ phase separates the S phase from the subsequent M phase. Cells in G₂ are therefore discriminated from G₁ cells by possessing a double DNA content. The gap phases allow the operation of controls that ensure that the previous phase has been accurately and fully completed, and not surprisingly the major regulatory points in the cell cycle operate at the G₁/S and G₂/M boundaries, which correspond to points of potential arrest as a consequence of evaluation of external conditions (135a).

Cell division requires an array of complicated processes that must be executed in a spatially and temporally controlled manner. During G_1 , cells must integrate relevant signals before making the decision to initiate DNA duplication, which implies commitment not only to S phase but also to completion of cell division. DNA replication is initiated following the G_1/S transition, and after the doubling of the genetic material, the mechanical structures allowing separation of the chromosomes have to be put in place, starting with the reorganization of the cytoskeleton early in G_2 (140). At the onset of mitosis, the interphase arrays of cortical microtubules that are arranged tranversely with respect to the main axis of growth rearrange into a narrow cortical ring, the preprophase band. This is unique to plants and consists of a belt-like arrangement of microtubules and actin filaments encircling the future division plane. The preprophase band dissolves as the mitotic spindle is built, which segregates the chromosomes during anaphase. The microtubules then rearrange again to form the phragmoplast, which organizes the synthesis of the new cell wall required between the daughter cells. Phragmoplast assembly starts centrally and expands with the growing cell wall toward the exterior of the cell (66).

Differentiating plant cells often display an alternative cycle known as endoreduplication, characterized by an increase in the nuclear ploidy level that results from repeated S phases with no intervening mitosis (61). In some species, such as *Arabidopsis*, this produces ploidy levels up to 32C in the final stages of leaf development (39). It is also a characteristic of certain specialized cell types, such as trichomes and the cells within leguminous nodules that host nitrogen-fixing bacteroids (37). In all cases, endoreduplication appears to occur only after cells have ceased normal mitotic cycles (24, 37) and in general may be associated with the benefit from increased DNA content to support larger cytoplasmic volumes.

SYNCHRONOUS CELL SYSTEMS

Within the shoot apices of intact plants cell division is essentially asynchronous and there is little or no coordination of division timing between cells (35). Although certain cellular aspects, including the intracellular localization of proteins, can be studied in individual cells and therefore do not require consistent timing of division between cells, the biochemical and molecular analysis of cell division is predicated on the availability of cell systems that allow populations of cells to be synchronized. Although a certain degree of synchrony can be achieved in intact seedlings or plant tissues by the use of inhibitor/block release [e.g., the work of Sala et al. (111)], the most suitable systems for detailed analysis are in vitro suspension cultures of plant cells, which can be grown in shake flasks (42). In such systems, cell division is removed from any developmental context. Ideally, all cells progress through the cell cycle at the same rate from the same initial starting point, and various procedures have been developed for different cultures that allow an approximation of this ideal. These procedures involve some method of accumulating cells at a specific point in the cycle, followed by the reactivation of cell-cycle progression.

The major approaches are the use of reversible inhibitors of specific cell-cycle processes to block progression through the cycle, followed by release of the synchronized cells, and the removal and resupply of specific nutrients or other factors that may be combined with cycles of subculturing. The application of inhibitors to cell-cycle studies has been reviewed recently (96); the most important agents are the DNA-polymerase inhibitor aphidicolin, which blocks cell-cycle progression in early S phase, and the antimicrotubule herbicides such as propyzamide, which block cells in early mitosis (89).

A number of cultures capable of various degrees of synchronization have been developed in species including *Acer* (65), *Catharanthus roseus* (3), alfalfa (64a), *Nicotiana plumbaginifolia* (146), and soybean (75). However, the gold standard of synchronizable cultures, providing not only the best levels of synchronization in plants but also in all higher eukaryotes, is the tobacco Bright Yellow-2 (BY-2) cell line developed by Nagata and coworkers (89), which has become a major factor in the progress of understanding plant cell division. This culture is readily synchronizable with aphidicolin to yield cells that retain a degree of synchrony for more than one complete cycle, and mitotic synchrony can be further enhanced by adding an additional block/release step with propyzamide.

Cultures of the key plant species *Arabidopsis* are recalcitrant to the development of effective synchrony, but we have recently selected cultures that offer sufficient levels of synchrony for molecular and biochemical analysis, using both aphidicolin and nutrient-induced synchrony (80, 81).

GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF CELL-CYCLE CONTROL

The eukaryotic cell cycle is regulated at multiple points, but all or most of these involve the activation of a special class of serine-threonine protein kinases, which are functionally defined as requiring binding for activity to a regulatory protein known as a cyclin and are therefore named cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs). Yeasts have a single CDK responsible for cell-cycle control that possesses the canonical sequence PSTAIRE (single amino-acid code) within its cyclin-binding domain. This CDK is conserved in all eukaryotes and is hence often referred to by its fission yeast name of *cdc2*. However, in higher eukaryotes there are multiple additional CDKs that have roles at different points in the cell cycle; these CDKs are not conserved between animals and plants and have variant sequences in their cyclin-binding domain. In animals the nomenclature CDK1 to CDK7 has been adopted (95), whereas in plants the lack of direct equivalents (except between CDK1 and CDKA) has led to the adoption of an alphabetical suffix [CDKA to CDKE (62)], which replaces an earlier confused nomenclature based on *cdc2*.

The first cyclins were identified in sea urchin eggs as proteins whose levels fluctuate during the cell cycle and were so named because of this transitory and cyclical appearance (33). They provide the primary mechanism for control of CDK activity because the CDK subunit is inactive unless bound to an appropriate cyclin (Figure 1). Cyclins are a diverse group of proteins with low overall homology that share a large, rather poorly conserved region responsible for their interaction with the CDK; this region is referred to as the cyclin core. The cyclin core stretches about 250 amino acid residues and is organized in two folds of five helices. The first fold is the cyclin box and comprises ~ 100 amino acid residues (93), representing the region of highest conservation, although it contains only five absolutely invariant positions. The crystal structure reveals the cyclin box as the face of interaction with the cognate CDK (60).



Figure 1 Cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) activity is regulated at multiple levels. Monomeric CDK lacks activity until it is complexed with cyclins (CYC) and activated by phosphorylation by CDK-activating kinase (CAK). Its activity can therefore be regulated by the abundance of the CDK or cyclin components through controlled transcription, translation, intracellular localization, or regulated destruction, or by the regulated activity of CAK. In addition, activity can be inhibited by phosphorylation by WEE1 kinases or the binding of inhibitor proteins [Kip-related proteins (KRP)]. Inhibitors may block the assembly of CDK/cyclin complexes or inhibit the kinase activity of assembled dimers. CDK subunit (CKS) proteins scaffold interactions with target substrates.

Cyclins fall into many classes that share homology and, at least to some degree, conserved function between animals and plants. A classification based on sequence organization indicates that five types of cyclins exist in plants (A, B, C, D, and H types) (105, 134). A-type cyclins generally appear at the beginning of S phase, are involved in S-phase progression, and are destroyed around the G_2/M transition. B-type cyclins appear during G_2 , control G_2/M and mitotic transitions, and are destroyed as cells enter anaphase. D-type cyclins control progression through G_1 and into S phase and differ from A and B types by generally not displaying a cyclical expression or abundance; their presence appears to depend on extracellular signals that stimulate or maintain division. If such signals are removed, levels of D-type cyclins decline rapidly, resulting in cells remaining blocked in G_1 . In animals E-type cyclins are strongly regulated at the G_1/S boundary, but a direct equivalent has not been observed to date in plant cells.

The levels of cyclins are generally determined by highly regulated transcription as well as by specific protein-turnover mechanisms. A- and B-type cyclins possess a "destruction box" that targets their timely removal by the anaphase-promoting complex during early-to-mid mitosis. D-type cyclins are conjugated to ubiquitin by an SCF complex and then subjected to proteasome degradation. No crystal structure of a plant CDK has been reported, but all eukaryotic CDKs share substantial structural similarity, characterized by a bilobal structure. The catalytic cleft, with ATP- and substrate-binding sites, lies between the N-terminal and C-terminal lobes, and cyclin binding stabilizes the catalytic site within the otherwise rather flexible structure [reviewed by Joubès et al. (62)]. However, access to the active site remains restricted by a loop of the CDK known as the "T-loop." Phosphorylation of a conserved threonine residue within the T-loop induces a conformational change that allows proper binding of the substrate and access to the γ -phosphate group of bound ATP. Phosphorylation of Thr160, or the functionally equivalent residue, is therefore essential for CDK activity and is carried out by a CDK-activating kinase (CAK). Two forms of CAK are known, one form classified as CDKF (131, 134), that can substitute for the CAK mutation in yeast, as well as heterodimeric complexes consisting of CDK7 and cyclin H (animals) or their homologues CDKD/CYCH in *Arabidopsis*.

Further regulation of CDK activity occurs by inhibitory phosphorylation of amino-terminal residues around threonine-14 and tyrosine-15, which is catalyzed by the WEE1 kinase, recently reported in maize and *Arabidopsis* (122, 127, 134). In yeast and mammals activation of CDK activity occurs through a phosphatase known as CDC25. Although homology searches do not reveal a direct homologue in plants, it is likely that a functional equivalent is present.

Thus, the activity of the basic CDK-cyclin module is potentially controlled not only through the levels of cyclins and CDK, owing to regulated transcription, translation, protein turnover, and/or sequestration and intracellular localization, but also by activating (CAK-mediated) and inhibitory (WEE1-mediated) phosphorylation. However, further mechanisms of modulation exist through the action of inhibitor and scaffolding proteins. CDK inhibitors have key roles in controlling cell-cycle progression, and there is limited sequence conservation between the animal class of CKI, known as Kip, and plant CDK inhibitors. Plant proteins are known as ICK (inhibitors of CDK) or KRP (Kip-related proteins) and appear to bind both CDK and cyclin subunits (136). CDK subunit (CKS) proteins related to budding yeast p16^{suc1} also exist in plants and animals. These proteins can act as inhibitors and activators of CDK activity and appear to have a role in scaffolding the interaction of the CDK complex with substrates (7).

CDK activity results in the covalent addition of a phosphate group to a substrate protein at a serine or threonine residue, which modifies the substrate's properties. A well-known example of a substrate that is phosphorylated at a specific cell-cycle phase is the extensive phosphorylation of histone H1 in mitotic chromosomes; histones are therefore a commonly used substrate for CDK/cyclin phosphorylation assays. Other known CDK targets include components of the cytoskeleton and the retinoblastoma (Rb) protein, whose phosphorylation controls the G_1/S transition. In other cases, CDK phosphorylation results in the destruction of specific cell-cycle components because recognition of targets for ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis by F-box proteins normally requires previous phosphorylation. In this way, the cell cycle can be given direction because the activation of CDK activity results in the destruction of components needed for the previous phase (65a).

CORE REGULATORS OF THE PLANT CELL CYCLE

Cyclin-Dependent Kinases

The sequencing of the complete *Arabidopsis* genome has allowed the full complement of a plant's cell cycle genes to be defined. In *Arabidopsis* there appear to be four types of CDK and two types of CAK (62, 134).

The functions of CDKA and CDKB are the best documented. In *Arabidopsis* there is a single gene for CDKA; it carries the PSTAIRE amino acid hallmark, and as in other plants, the abundance of CDKA mRNA does not fluctuate significantly throughout the cell cycle (36, 81, 114, 123). CDKA kinase activity is upregulated during G₁ phase and is high during S phase. Results in tobacco BY-2 cells suggest that activity remains high throughout G₂ until the G₂/M transition (104, 123), whereas in *Arabidopsis* cells there appears to be a reduction in activity during G₂ and a second peak at the G₂/M transition (81).

The expression of A-type CDK in plants is confined to tissues in which the cells have retained the capacity to divide (36, 114). However, CDKA activity within cells is not regulated at the level of its expression because constitutive overexpression does not provoke a phenotype (49). Rather its activity is regulated posttranslationally, and constitutive overexpression of a dominant-negative mutant form of *Arabidopsis* CDKA protein, which does not possess kinase activity, causes reduced cell number in transgenic tobacco plants (49). These and other results suggest that CDKA activity is rate limiting and essential for plant cell division, and although some of its cyclin partners are known, it is not clear with which of these CDKA performs its essential role(s).

Immunolocalization experiments, and more recently the use of a CDKA-green fluorescent protein (GFP) fusion in tracking and cosedimentation experiments, provided detailed information on the intercellullar localization of CDKA during the cell cycle (15, 125, 141). During interphase CDKA-GFP is detected in the nucleus and the cytoplasm with the nuclear CDKA-GFP tightly associated with chromatin. During late G_2 CDKA-GFP is briefly associated with the cortical portion of the preprophase band. During prophase it is detected in the condensing chromatin, and during prometaphase it is recruited to the metaphase spindle, a result also confirmed in cosedimentation experiments. At anaphase CDKA is localized to the central region of the spindle; during telophase the CDKA accumulates on the midline of the phragmoplast. At later stages of telophase CDKA reassociates with the chromatin (141). This close involvement of CDKA with the rearrangements of the microtubules that accompany mitosis suggests it has a key role in controlling microtubule dynamics and hence also mitotic progression (126).

B-type CDKs are unique to plants, and the *Arabidopsis* CDKBs are subdivided in two subgroups, each with two members (134). The expression of both CDKB1 and CDKB2 has been demonstrated and documented (80, 81, 98, 114, 123). Both subgroups exhibit cell-cycle regulation of their expression, a feature that is unique to plant CDKBs and has not been observed for any type of CDKs in other eukaryotes.

The CDKB1 subgroup normally has the hallmark sequence PPTALRE and is expressed from the onset of S phase until mitosis in a number of species examined including *Antirrhinum* (*cdc2c*) (36), alfalfa (*cdc2MsD*) (76), tobacco (123), and *Arabidopsis* (81, 114). The CDKB2 type is normally characterized by PPTTLRE and is expressed only in G₂-M cells where examined in *Antirrhinum* (*cdc2d*) (36), *Arabidopsis* (81), and alfalfa (*cdc2MsF*) (76).

It is presumed that CDKB1 and CDKB2 kinase activity is limiting for the G₂/M transition. Constitutive overexpression of a dominant-negative mutant of a CDKB in tobacco increased the proportion of cells with a 4C content, indicating that cell cycle progression is inhibited some time prior to nuclear membrane degradation (98). By in situ hybridization, CDKB expression is confined to actively dividing tissues and is dispersed in a patchy pattern in these tissues, indicative of a cell-phase-specific accumulation. Its expression is excluded from endoreduplicating tissues (58, 63). Furthermore, double-labeling experiments in Antirrhinum revealed the accumulation of CDKB1 transcripts in cells in S, G₂, and M phase and of CDKB2 transcripts in cells in G_2 and M (36). Activity peaks at the G_2/M transition (123). Immunolocalization of alfalfa CDKB2;1 (cdc2MsF) revealed colocalization with microtubular structures such as the preprophase band, preprophase spindle, metaphase spindle, and phragmoplast (83). CDKs may also function outside the cell cycle, as downregulation of Arabidopsis CDKB1;1 reduced the growth of etiolated seedlings primarily by inhibiting the elongation rates, independently of cell division or endoreduplication (145).

C-type CDKs are most closely related to the cholinesterase-related cell-division controller (CHED) kinases of mammalian cells; they share the PITAIRE motif with these proteins, and no function in the cell cycle has yet been demonstrated (73a). In mammals, CHED kinases are suspected to be involved with megakaryocyte differentiation in hematopoiesis (71). Tomato CDKC failed to interact with A, B, or D cyclins, and although it is preferentially expressed in dividing tissues, its expression pattern does not indicate a cell-phase-specific regulation (63). In alfalfa the expression of CDKC is also constant throughout the cell cycle (76). However, no loss-of-function data are yet available to definitely rule out a cell-cycle function of this type of CDK.

The SPTAIRE CDK, found in alfalfa, was classified as an E-type CDK (62), and on the basis of homology a related sequence was detected in *Arabidopsis* (134). Their possible function in the cell cycle is still unclear. CDKE maintains an unchanged basal level throughout the cell cycle (76).

CDK-Activating Kinases

The first plant CAK, R2, was identified in rice (45, 112, 144) and served as a model to identify three related sequences in the *Arabidopsis* genome that were classified

into the group of D-type CDKs (134). Additionally, a further, unrelated Arabidopsis CAK was isolated in a yeast complementation assay, and the kinase activity of immunoprecipitates with anti-CAK antibody toward CDKA was confirmed. Unlike monomeric yeast CAK, the Arabidopsis CAK did not display activity as a monomer, suggesting the need for a posttranslational modification or the association with a regulatory subunit for activity (131). Because the sequence of this cak1At was unrelated to CDKD and the rice CAK R2, apart from its conserved kinase domain, it was recently classified in a distinct group, CDKF (134). It therefore appears that there are two classes of CAK in Arabidopsis. Rice CAK R2 not only has kinase activity toward CDK but also phosphorylates the C-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II. R2 is preferentially expressed during S phase, and the kinase activity associated with R2 using the carboxy-terminal domain as a substrate peaks during S phase (34). Unlike rice R2, the Arabidopsis CDKF;1 complexes cannot phosphorylate the carboxy-terminal domain, but specifically phosphorylate CDKs (131). Inducible cosuppression of Arabidopsis CDKF using either sense or antisense constructs led to a decrease of CDK activity and caused a premature differentiation in root cells (132). The use of the specific CDK inhibitor roscovitine also caused differentiation, but other blockers of the cell cycle such as aphidicolin did not. This suggests that continued CDK activity (rather than cell division itself) is directly important in maintaining the undifferentiated state of meristematic cells.

Cyclins

A-TYPE CYCLINS A-type and B-type cyclins could be isolated in a variety of plant species by polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based cloning strategies, benefiting from the relatively conserved cyclin box (46, 48). Although early analyses (based on a limited numbers of sequences) suggested ambiguities in the assignation of cyclins between the A and B subgroups, later, more detailed studies showed that animal and plant A- and B-type cyclins show clear relationships in their overall sequence and the nature of their destruction box (105, 106). Levels of A-type cyclins, like B-type cyclins, are tightly controlled by cell-cycle-dependent proteolysis, and this is conferred by the N-terminal destruction box (41).

A-type cyclins are subdivided into three different subclasses: CYCA1, CYCA2, and CYCA3 (12, 105). In *Arabidopsis* 10 sequences encoding A-type cyclins have been identified; four of these are predicted by bioinformatics, and the expression of the other six has been confirmed (134). In most plants screened, members of all three subclasses of A-type cyclins have been found.

Expression analysis in various models indicated that A-type cyclins are expressed before B-type cyclins in the plant cell cycle, beginning around the onset of S phase (38, 56, 70, 82, 103, 116). In tobacco BY2 cells, sequential expression of different A-type cyclins was analyzed during the cell cycle. The expression of two A3-type cyclins was upregulated at the G_1/S transition, whereas a gene belonging to the A1-type was induced at mid-S phase. These data suggested that the members of the different subclasses have different biological functions (103).

An alfalfa *CYCA3* (*CycMs3*) was expressed prior to DNA synthesis upon cellcycle reentry of differentiated cells and could complement a G_1 -cyclin-deficient yeast, suggesting a possible role in cell-cycle reentry or the G_1 /S transition (82). Although expression timing is consistent with this interpretation, the ability to rescue G_1 -cyclin-deficient yeast cells should not be regarded as a criterion for cyclins involved in G/S control because B-type cyclins, which are not expressed during G_1 , can share this potential (20).

Localized induction of *CYCA3;2* expression stimulated cell division in primordia and young organs in tobacco, suggesting that in certain situations CYCA activity can be rate limiting for cell division. Intriguingly, this transient local induction in cell division in primordia led to a reduction in cell number in the cognate region of the mature leaf (142), suggesting that control of cell division in localized domains is important for proper morphogenesis.

A detailed study of the expression kinetics of A2-type cyclins in partially synchronized cell suspension cultures revealed that transcript levels peaked during G_2 , dropped during M phase, and then rose again during G_1 and S. CYCA2 protein levels dropped during G_1 , rose during S, and then remained at a constant level during G_2 and M phase. However, the CYCA2-associated kinase activity was biphasic; it transiently peaked during mid-S phase, then dropped to a background level and reached its maximum level at the G_2/M transition (110).

Intriguingly, CYCA2 was shown to be able to interact with the maize retinoblastoma protein in a yeast two-hybrid experiment. This interaction requires an intact cyclin-box, indicating that a yeast CDK probably forms a complex with CYCA2, and this heterodimer interacts with the Rb instead of directly with the CYCA2 (110).

A detailed expression analysis of *Arabidopsis CYCA2;1* expression in the root pericycle indicated that it was associated with the pericycle cells at the xylem poles, which arrest in G_2 , and was not detected with the pericycle cells at the phloem poles, which remain in the G_1 phase of the cell cycle (5). Although a role for CYCA-kinase activity in the G_1/S transition certainly cannot be excluded at this point, particularly in the case of *CYCA3*, it seems from the maxima of analyzed CYCA-associated kinase activities during both S and G_2 , and their expression pattern in tissues, that they are predominantly involved in S and G_2 -phase progression rather then in G_1 progression.

Details on subcellular localization of CYCAs during the cell cycle are starting to emerge, but we are still far from a complete picture. During S phase a CYCA3; 1-GFP fusion protein was restricted to the nucleus and nucleolus; in cells undergoing mitosis no CYCA3;1-GFP was detected (18). Similarly, in alfalfa CYCA2 was detected in the nucleus until prophase but was undetectable during mitosis (110). Immunolocalization experiments in *Zea mays* indicated that CYCA1 becomes nuclear after prophase and binds to microtubular arrays during mitosis (84, 85). Generally, these data are consistent with distinct roles for the various classes of A-type cyclins.

B-TYPE CYCLINS Among the first cell-cycle genes cloned in plants were three B-type cyclins, two from carrot and soybean (46) and one from *Arabidopsis* (48).

Apart from their sequence differences, B-type cyclins distinguish themselves from A-type cyclins by their somewhat later expression pattern during the cell cycle. All identified B-type cyclins were subdivided into two subclasses, CYCB1 and CYCB2 (105), but recently the presence of a B-type cyclin gene in the *Arabidopsis* genome, which encodes for a B-type-cyclin-like protein without the typical B-type destruction box, was predicted and assigned to a third class, CYCB3 (134). There are two genes encoding for both CYCB1 and CYCB2 cyclins in *Arabidopsis*.

Microinjection of tobacco CYCB1;1 mRNA into Xenopus oocytes overcame their natural G₂/M arrest, as do mammalian cyclins (99). Ectopic expression of the CYCB1;2, but not of the CYCB1;1, cyclin in normally endoreduplicating trichomes forces the G_2/M transition and causes the trichome cell to convert what would normally be endoreduplication cycles into cell divisions producing multicellular trichomes (113), indicating that plant CYCB1 are indeed functionally involved in the G₂/M transition. The mechanism involved in G₂-M-specific transcriptional regulation has been the topic of extensive studies. In synchronized cell suspensions and plants, CYCB transcripts are absent until S phase, rise during G_2 , reach a maximum during G_2 and early M phase, and decline rapidly as M phase progresses (5, 51, 81, 99, 129). The use of a β -glucuronidase (GUS) reporter fused to the full-length CYCB1;1 promoter indicated that the levels of GUS mRNA mimicked the expression kinetics of the CYCB1;1 in cell systems, showing that the kinetics of B-type cyclin mRNA accumulation are conferred by transcriptional regulation (56, 117, 129). Deletion analysis of the Catharanthus CYCB1;1 promoter in combination with the luciferase reporter gene allowed the identification of a nine-base-pair element containing a central core pentamer with homology to Myb-binding sites that is responsible for the M-phase-specific regulation. Furthermore, this MSA (M-phase-specific activator) element was conserved in the promoters of several M-phase-regulated genes (57, 130). Three cDNAs encoding Myb proteins (NtMybA1, NtMybA2, and NtMybAB) were isolated from a tobacco BY-2 cDNA library using MSA elements from Catharanthus and tobacco as bait in a one-hybrid screen (55). Furthermore, NtMybA1 and A2 activated the MSA-containing promoters, whereas NtMybB inhibited their activity. It therefore appears that Myb factors are conserved MSA-interaction factors and regulate M-phase-specific transcription. However, different factors may regulate other CYCB genes, as two interacting proteins, which were found to be a putative Myblike factor with a Myb-DNA binding domain and a protein that contains a Myc-type dimerization domain and leucine zipper, were identified as binding the Arabidopsis CYCB1;1 promoter (97).

As mentioned above, levels of B-type cyclins are regulated not only by transcriptional control but also by proteolysis, and CYCB destruction by the anaphase promoting complex marks the transition from metaphase into anaphase in animals, and possibly in plants (41). CYCB protein levels are therefore high only during a narrow window of the cell cycle; tobacco CYCB1;1 protein levels rose at the end of S phase and dropped early in the M phase in a synchronized tobacco BY2-culture (17). Unlike the situation in vertebrate and yeast cells, in which overexpression of a nondegradable form of cyclin B blocks mitosis, in BY-2 cells nondegradable CYCB1;1 did not profoundly perturb progression through mitosis, nor did it increase CDK kinase activity, but CYCB1;1 negatively affected cytokinesis, resulting in a low frequency of multinucleate cells (18). This indicates that additional mechanisms regulate CDK and CYCB1 activity (17, 41) and that CYCB1 destruction is not a prerequisite for the completion of mitosis.

In G_2 tobacco, CYCB1;1 is either nuclear or cytoplasmic. In prophase, CYCB1;1-GFP fusion protein was found on the condensing chromosomes, and no colocalization with mitotic spindles was observed for this cyclin. As expected, in anaphase and telophase the fusion protein was undetectable because it is destroyed at the metaphase/anaphase boundary (18).

The expression of B-type cyclins in plants is mainly associated with cycling cells (5, 58, 114). Fusion of *GUS* to the promoter and the coding region for the first 50 amino acid residues of *Arabidopsis CYCB1;1*, a region that includes the destruction box, produces a GUS fusion protein that is expressed only in G₂/M cells and is destroyed as cells pass through mitosis (16). This marker is therefore an excellent indicator of mitotic activity in plant tissues. However, the situation at the protein level is more complex, as in maize root tips only the CYCB1;2 protein was completely absent from nondividing tissues; CYCB1;1, CYCB2;1, and CYCA1;1 disappeared from the cytoplasm but persisted in the nuclei of elongating cells at a lower level (85).

Targeted constitutive overexpression of *Arabidopsis CYCB1*; *1* to division-competent cells promoted cell division in root meristems and increased root growth, indicating that this CYCB1 might be rate limiting for division in these cells (29), whereas ectopic expression of *CYCB1*; *1* failed to overcome the G_2/M block in endoreduplicating cells (113). However, the mechanism behind these phenomena is unclear and may be linked with the specific ability of some root cells to arrest in G_2 (5).

D-TYPE CYCLINS D-type cyclins were originally identified by their capacity to complement yeast strains defective in G_1 cyclins (19, 120). They were defined as D-type cyclins on the basis of a low sequence homology to animal D-type cyclins and the presence of the conserved LxCxE motif, which is responsible for their interaction with retinoblastoma-related (Rb or RBR) proteins (1, 53). They have been identified in a variety of plant species [see review by Meijer & Murray (79)]; in Arabidopsis, ten D-type cyclins sequences have been identified, and these can be classified according to Vandepoele et al. (134) into seven subclasses. Using this classificiation of Arabidopsis D-type cyclins, the CYCD3 subclass has three members, the CYCD4 family two, and the other groups all have a single member. The CYCD4 subgroup has relatively high homology with CYCD2;1 (CYCD4;1 and CYCD4:2 have 60% and 54% similarity with CYCD2;1, respectively), similar to the homology shared by other subgroup members (CYCD3;1 shares 61% similarity with CYCD3;2 and 57 % with CYCD3;3), and it has been proposed that the CYCD4 cyclins should be regarded as members of the CYCD2 subgroup (54, 94).

D-type cyclins share conserved structural features with mammalian D-types in addition to the cyclin box, such as the Rb-interaction motif and in most cases putative PEST (proline, glutamine, serine and threonine rich) sequences involved in protein degradation. The Rb-interaction domain consists of an LxCxE (singleletter code, where x represents any residue) amino acid motif that is conserved in both animals and plants and is located near the N terminus of the protein. For CYCD2;1 and CYCD3;1, Rb binding has been demonstrated in vitro and depends on an intact LxCxE motif (1, 53). Two cyclin sequences, CYCD4;2 and CYCD6;1, coding for a CYCD-related protein without a canonical LxCxE motif, have been predicted, and CYCD5;1 has a slightly divergent motif. The biological role of these proteins is still unclear. In *Arabidopsis* both CYCD2;1 and CYCD3;1 form active complexes with CDKA but not with CDKB1;1 (47). Interaction with other possible CDK partners has not been probed yet, although alfalfa CYCD4 associated with the alfalfa CDKB2 in yeast (83).

Expression of D-type cyclins is low in stationary BY-2 cell cultures (121), although in an Arabidopsis cell culture CYCD2;1 and CYCD3;1 transcripts were constant throughout the growth cycle from subculturing to stationary phase. However, when the culture medium was adjusted so that sugar levels were depleted by the time stationary phase was reached, CYCD3;1 transcripts dropped significantly. These results show that CYCD2;1 and CYCD3;1 expression is not limited to actively dividing cells but rather is dependent on medium composition and hence extrinsic signals. Moreover, together with other evidence, it shows that both CYCD2;1 and CYCD3;1 expression is dependent on sugar availability and is induced in response to sugar supply (108). Induction of both CYCD2; 1 and CYCD3; 1 by sugars occurred without progression through G₁ or de novo protein synthesis, as shown by its insensitivity to cycloheximide, a protein synthesis inhibitor that also blocks progression through G₁ phase in Arabidopsis (38). This induction is, however, highly sensitive to inhibitors of protein phosphatases used at low concentrations, and the response profiles of CYCD2;1 and CYCD3;1 induction are different to two phosphatase inhibitors, indicative of the involvement of different phosphatases or pathways (108).

Further analysis showed that although *CYCD2;1* and *CYCD3;1* transcript levels drop on sucrose removal, total levels of CYCD2;1 protein remain fairly constant, whereas CYCD3;1 protein levels follow the transcript kinetics (47). CYCD3;1 therefore parallels the classic response of mammalian D-type cyclins to external mitogenic signals (118). However, the kinase activity associated with both CYCD2;1 and CYCD3;1 dropped upon sucrose removal. Immunoprecipitation revealed that in stationary phase CYCD2;1 is not bound to CDKA but is sequestered in an unknown complex that removes CYCD2;1-associated kinase activity without affecting the total protein level (47).

Human D-type cyclins are degraded by ubiquitin-mediated proteolyis that involves phosphorylation of the threonine-286 residue of the protein. Threonine-286 or its equivalent is located within the hydrophilic PEST domain and is conserved in D-type cyclins of various organisms including plants, and therefore a similar mechanism for the regulation of D-type cyclin levels might be operational in plants (90, 94).

Although both *CYCD2*; *1* and *CYCD3*; *1* expression is sugar regulated, *CYCD3*; *1* expression shows strong responses to plant hormones, whereas *CYCD2*; *1* does not (94). *CYCD3*; *1* is rapidly super-induced by cytokinin within one hour of treatment at physiological concentrations, not only in cultured cells (107, 120) but also in whole seedlings, as detected by RNA gel blots and in situ hybridization. *CYCD3*; *1* expression is also elevated in the high cytokinin mutant *pt/amp1* (13, 107).

However, the hormone response of *CYCD3;1* is not limited to its super-induction by cytokinin, as it is also upregulated by auxin, gibberelins, and brassinosteroids (52, 94). The response to cytokinins, like its sugar response, is phosphatase mediated and does not appear to require de novo protein synthesis (107), in contrast to the induction by epi-brassinolide, which does involve de novo protein biosynthesis but no regulation by phosphorylation (52). This suggests that the brassinolide regulation of *CYCD3;1* requires transcription and/or translation of upstream regulators. Abscisic and jasmonic acids reduce the levels of *CYCD3;1* transcripts in *Arabidopsis* cells, consistent with the effects of these hormones in blocking cell-cycle progression in BY-2 cells (94, 128).

In *Antirrhinum* seedlings, *CYCD1*, *CYCD3;1* (*CYCD3a*), and *CYCD3;2* (*CYCD3b*) respond to sucrose. Interestingly, only *CYCD1* and *CYCD3;1* expression is significantly upregulated by cytokinin. Furthermore, only *CYCD1* displays a mild response to auxin (40).

CYCD3;1 might have an additional role besides integrating sucrose and hormone signaling. Toxin-induced cell-cycle arrest in early S phase by aphidicolin or in G_1 by low levels of cycloheximide causes a strong reduction in *CYCD3;1* transcript levels (38, 81), indicating that *CYCD3;1* expression may also assess correct cell-cycle progression.

In tissues, *CYCD* expression seems to be associated with proliferating tissues and is excluded from differentiated tissues. *CYCD4;1* expression is associated with developing lateral roots, embryogenesis, and vascular tissues (25). *CYCD3;1* transcripts accumulated in proliferating shoot tissues such as the meristematic, young leaf, and developing vascular tissues (107, 28). Furthermore, D-type cyclins of the same class can be differentially expressed in dividing tissues during development. In *Antirrhinum, CYCD3;2* (*CYCD3b*) is expressed throughout the vegetative meristem, whereas the cytokinin-inducible *CYCD3;1* (*CYCD3a*) transcripts are confined to early stages in the development of organ primordia. In *Antirrhinum* floral meristems, *CYCD3;1* expression was detected in the periphery of the inflorescence meristem, in young floral meristems, and in the tips of older floral organs. *CYCD3;2* transcripts, however, were abundant throughout the inflorescence meristem and floral meristems, being apparently expressed in all dividing cells. *CYCD1* was also expressed throughout the inflorescence (40).

CYCDs may also provide a key link between developmental controls and cell proliferation. *AINTEGUMENTA* encodes a transcription factor of the AP2 domain family and was identified as a gene that regulates cell division in ovules and flowers (31). Ectopic overexpression of *AINTEGUMENTA* in *Arabidopsis* increases

the size of leaves by extending the period of cell proliferation and increasing leaf cell number and also causes increased expression of *CYCD3*;1 (87). Overexpression of *CYCD3*;1 also dramatically increased leaf cell number but did not affect the expression of *AINTEGUMENTA* (28), suggesting that *AINTEGUMENTA* may regulate cell number in organ development by controlling *CYCD3* expression.

H-TYPE CYCLINS Genes encoding H-type cyclins have been identified in *Arabidopsis*, rice, and poplar (134, 143). In rice and poplar high transcript levels are associated with dividing cells. Rice cyclin H interacts specifically with the CAK R2 but not with other CDKs, and increases the kinase activities of R2 and enhances the rescue by R2 of a CAK mutation in budding yeast. These observations indicate that cyclin H is the regulatory subunit of CAK (143). Further information on the regulation of CYCH and CAK itself is likely to show whether these proteins have a regulatory role in the plant cell cycle.

CDK Inhibitors

Binding of CDK inhibitors to CDK/cyclin complexes modulates the kinase activity. In Arabidopsis the seven genes identified that encode proteins with limited homology to the animal Kip/Cip family of CDK inhibitors are referred to as Kiprelated proteins (KRPs) or ICKs (inhibitor of CDK) (24, 74, 137). Apart from the Kip-related region, the overall homology of most KRPs is rather low. The binding of some of these KRPs to CDKA has been reported independently by two research groups, and a consensus result from their experiments was the binding of ICK1, ICK2, and ICK7 to CDKA and the absence of CDKA interaction with ICK5 (24, 148). Also, no KRP was found capable of binding CDKB in a twohybrid system in these studies. All KRP/ICK proteins interacted with CYCD3;1, CYCD2;1, and CYCD1;1 (148), and four interacted with CYCD4;1 (24). No KRP interacted with CYCB1;1 (24, 148). Inhibition of CDKA activity has been demonstrated in vitro for both ICK1/KRP1 and KRP2 (139). In addition, an in vivo assay demonstrated the ability of ICK1 to delay the progression from nuclear envelope breakdown to metaphase in Tradescantia stamen hairs (14). Together these results suggest that some or all KRP proteins act to inhibit formation of CYCD-CDK complexes and to inhibit the kinase activity of preformed CDKA complexes, but there is no direct evidence that KRP binding blocks CDK-cyclin complex formation.

The inhibitory effect of KRP proteins on CDKA activity has been confirmed as also affecting cell-cycle progression in transgenic plants. The targeted overexpression of KRP1 resulted in petals with a reduced cell number (148), and constitutive overexpression of KRP1, KRP2, and KRP4 resulted in smaller serrated leaves (24, 148). Aberrant floral morphology was found upon the overexpression of KRP1 and KRP4 (148). Constitutive overexpression of KRP2 reduced cell numbers in leaves, which was correlated with and hence partially compensated by an increase in cell size. Leaf development is characterized by largely distinct phases in which first cell division and later cellular differentiation and accompanying expansion are

the predominant processes (30). In KRP2-overexpressing plants cell division was inhibited in the first phase, but the timing of the switch between division and cellular differentiation/expansion was unaffected, suggesting no direct role for KRPs in integrating proliferation and cellular differentiation (24).

KRP transcripts are differentially distributed in *Arabidopsis* plants (24, 139), and in synchronized *Arabidopsis* expression systems their transcripts are differentially regulated. During cell-cycle reentry of sucrose-starved cells, *KRP2* is transiently expressed during the G₁ phase, but its transcripts subsequently disappear. *KRP1/ICK1* transcripts are present in sucrose-starved cells, and its transcripts then decline but increase again at the ensuing mitosis, whereas *KRP3* is limited to mitotic cells (81). *KRP1/ICK1* is also strongly upregulated by abscisic acid treatment (138). These results suggest different roles for the KRP proteins during the cell cycle. KRP2 may be specifically involved in cell-cycle reentry, and KRP1/ICK1 in maintaining cells in stationary phase and abscisic acid responses.

CDK Subunit

CDK subunit (CKS) proteins are proposed to act as docking factors that can influence the interactions between the kinase complex and the substrates. Interaction of *Arabidopsis* CKS1 and CDKA and CDKB has been demonstrated (24, 148). The expression of CKS1 (26) is associated with dividing cells as well as with endoreduplicating cells (58). Recently, a second homologue in *Arabidopsis* has been identified by genomic analyis (134).

Retinoblastoma Protein

A single gene for an Rb-related protein exists in Arabidopsis, but in maize there are two genes (RBR1 and RBR2) as well as differentially spliced transcripts, although their functional significance is unknown (1). Plant Rb proteins are nuclear and are characterized by many potential CDK phosphorylation sites (1, 22, 91). In animals and plants Rb proteins interact with several proteins including the E2F family of transcription factors, CYCD, and RbAp48-like proteins (1, 22, 53). In maize the *RBR* genes are expressed in all tissues, but the strongest expression is associated with the shoot apex (1). When Rb protein abundance was examined in developing maize leaves, a gradient along the leaf lamina was found, with the highest levels associated with differentiating cells exiting the cell cycle at the distal end of the leaf and lowest levels associated with the proliferative zone at the leaf base (53). The Arabidopsis homologue of the Rbp48-related Rb-interacting protein MSI1 has recently been shown to be a component of the CAF chromatin assembly factor complex together with the proteins encoded by the FAS1 and FAS2 genes (64b), whose loss leads to fasciation of the shoot apical meristem and inability to maintain the expression of the meristem identity gene WUSCHEL. These results suggest links between Rb's role in cell-cycle control and cellular differentiation.

E2F

E2F binds DNA as heterodimers with dimerisation partner (DP) proteins, and homologues of E2F and DP proteins are found in plants and interact with Rb (2, 21, 43, 69, 77, 100, 115). In Arabidopsis a family of three E2F protein [E2Fa, E2Fb, and E2Fc, according to the latest nomenclature (134)], two DP (a and b) proteins, and three DP-E2F-like genes [DEL (also known as ELP), with mixed sequence characteristics] have been described (21). E2Fa (also known as E2F3) and E2Fb (E2F1) transactivate gene expression, whereas E2Fc (E2F2) appears to have weak or no transactivation potential (21, 69, 77, 109). E2Fa and E2Fb translocate to the nucleus and transactivate an E2F reporter gene when coexpressed with DPa but not with DPb (69). The DEL proteins do not interact with DP or E2F proteins but can bind to E2F sites in a monomeric form and repress the transcription of genes under E2F promotor control (68). The E2F/DP transcription factors can trigger genes involved in DNA replication. Rice OsE2F1 binds to the putative E2F binding site in the promoter of proliferating cell nuclear antigen, a gene involved in DNA replication, and confers transactivation to an E2F-reporter gene (67); cellcycle regulation of the tobacco ribonucleotide reductase gene is controlled by E2F elements (10, 11).

Combined overexpression of E2Fa/DPa transcription factors in *Arabidopsis* stimulated the expression of S-phase-specific genes such as DNA polymerase α , ORC, MCM, and CDC6 (23) and stimulated the entry into S phase of fully differentiated leaf cells (109, 23). In leaves this led to either ectopic divisions or increased rounds of endoreduplication; the choice between these two alternatives is proposed to be controlled by the presence or absence of a putative mitotis-promoting factor (23). In trichomes, *CYCB1*;2 can provide this role (113), suggesting that this cyclin or a regulator of its expression or activity might provide such an activity.

CELL-CYCLE TRANSITIONS AND PROGRESSION

From G₁ Into S Phase

A model for control of the G_1/S transition has been proposed in which D-type cyclins are primary mediators of the G_1/S transition and hence have a major responsibility for stimulating the mitotic cell cycle (88) (Figure 2). Transcription of D-type cyclins is activated by extracellular signals and leads to the formation of active CDKA-CYCD complexes. These phosphorylate and hence inactivate the Rb protein so that it loses its E2F association and can no longer block the activation of E2F-regulated genes. E2F is then able to activate transcription of genes involved in S phase and other growth and cell-cycle processes (10, 23).

The role of multiple CYCDs during G_1/S control is not yet understood, nor is it known whether Rb is their only important target. Do different CYCD kinases phosphorylate different positions within Rb or do they act sequentially during progression through G_1 into S phase, or in different cell types?



Figure 2 Model for the control of G_1/S transition. CYCD3 transcription is induced in response to sucrose and hormones and forms active complexes with CDKA. In nondividing cells, or cells in G_1 , genes with E2F sites are held transcriptionally inactive because bound E2F recruits retinoblastoma (Rb) to these promoters. The rising levels of CYCD kinase activity phosphorylate Rb, causing it to lose E2F association. E2Fregulated genes including *CDC6*, *CYCD3*; *1*, *E2Fc*, and *CDKB1*; *1* are thereby activated. The control incorporates positive and negative feedback loops because CYCD3;1 is an E2F target, as is the E2Fc, which lacks transactivation potential and is therefore a competitive inhibitor of E2F-regulated activity.

The role of the multiple E2F genes is also not fully resolved, although it seems likely that E2Fc is involved in a negative-feedback loop. As already mentioned, E2F2c appears to be a competitive inhibitor of E2F-activated gene expression owing to its lack of an effective activation domain, and it contains an E2F-binding site in its promoter. Increasing levels of E2F activation activity would therefore lead to increased competitive inhibition of E2F-directed expression. This model has been supported by the finding that when CYCD3;1 is overexpressed, resulting in Rb inactivation, strongly increased levels of E2F are detected (28).

G₂/M Transition and Mitosis

The G₂/M transition is controlled by the level of CDK-CYCB kinase activity, and inhibition of CDKs arrests cells in G₂ and stabilizes the preprophase band (6). During G2 levels of transcripts encoding CYCB increase and probably associate with both CDKA and CDKB1. Further regulation of CDK activity by both KRP proteins and inhibitory phophorylation by WEE1 kinases is likely. Phosphatases therefore probably play an important role in M-phase onset, although a direct homologue of CDC25 phosphatases that activate CDKs in animals and yeast has not been found. However, because inhibition of serine/threonine-specific protein phosphatases in alfalfa by endothall caused premature, imperfect microtubular reorganizations and activation of CDKB2;1 (4), these phosphatases might be involved in regulating M-phase progression. The protein kinase CK2 shows discrete activity peaks at G_1/S and M in tobacco BY-2 cells, and blocking its activity during G_1 abolished the G_2/M checkpoint, resulting in premature entry into prophase and showing links between G_1 processes and G_2 controls (32).

Progression Through Mitosis

As discussed above, progression through mitosis involves the association of CDK complexes with microtubular and chromatin structures, and CDK activity probably plays an important role in microtubular dynamics and stability (135). Microinjection of active CDK into *Tradescantia* hair cells accelerates the early stages of mitosis, whereas inhibition of CDK activity induces abnormal microtubular spindles (6). Although the actual substrates of CDK have not yet been identified, CDK complexes could phosphorylate microtubule-associated proteins such as MAP4 homologues, which regulate the dynamic assembly of microtubular structures, in analogy with animals.

In animals, cytokinesis occurs by constriction of the cell cortex, but in plants it depends on the phragmoplast, to which cell-plate formation is directed by transport of Golgi-derived vesicles [reviewed by Staehelin & Hepler (124)]. A variety of proteins involved in vesicle trafficking and microtubular-associated proteins accumulate at the phragmoplast. In addition, a number of protein kinases such as MMK3, p43^{Ntf6}, and mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs) are detected on the cell plate. NPK1, a MAPK kinase kinase that accumulates at the equator of the phragmoplast, regulates the lateral expansion of the cell plate, and its targeted action depends on the association with kinesin-like motor proteins (92).

Endoreduplication

Endoreduplication occurs in the development of mature tissues in many species and in specific developmental situations such as endosperm development (44). Endoreduplication can be considered a modified cell cycle, and data have emerged on the molecular mechanisms behind the regulation of endoreduplication [reviewed by Joubès & Chevalier (61)]. A general view is the downregulation of CYCA1, CYCA2, CYCBs, and CDKB in endoreduplicating cells, which is consistent with the proposed action of these components during M phase. Also, as mentioned above, the overexpression of *CYCB1;2* in endoreduplicating trichomes induces mitotic divisions, indicating that this can be a limiting factor for entry into mitosis.

CDK action is a common driver of both mitotic cycles and endocycles. This is supported by the observation that overexpression of KRP reduced the level of endoreduplication as well as cell production (24, 147). From the increase of CYCD3 and CYCA3 expression in endoreduplicating maturing tomato tissues it was proposed that some D-type cyclins are involved in endoreduplication by promoting the G_1/S transition (61). However, this view cannot be generalized

toward all D-type cyclins, as overexpression of *Arabidopsis CYCD3*;1 induced cell divisions in normally endoreduplicating trichomes. Furthermore, constitutive overexpression of CYCD3;1 prevented exit from the mitotic cycle and conferred hyperproliferation of leaf tissues while strongly inhibiting endoreduplication (28). In contrast, overexpression of the E2Fa/DP transcription factor, which stimulates genes involved in S phase, promotes both the mitotic cycle and endoreduplication (23). CDC6, which plays an essential role in the initiation of DNA replication in animals and yeast, is regulated by E2F transcription factors and upregulated in endoreduplicating cells (8, 101).

As mentioned above, endoreduplication is only initiated after the mitotic cell cycle is stopped (24, 37) and it correlates with loss of mitotic regulators. A further link is an activator of the anaphase-promoting complex, CCS52, the anaphase-promoting complex being responsible for the ubiquitin-related degradation of mitotic cyclins. Expression of *CCS52* was confined to dividing and endoreduplicating cells but was absent from cells with no cell-cycle activity. Antisense expression of *Medicago CCS52* reduced endoreduplication in hypocotyls, again suggesting that loss of mitotic cyclins is involved in the switch from mitotic cycles to endocycles (9). However, the upstream mechanisms influencing this mechanism are still unknown.

HORMONES AND THE CELL CYCLE

Studies spanning the past 50 years have shown the effects of plant hormones on cell proliferation. However, because most hormones also provoke morphogenetic effects, the cell-cycle consequences may be direct or part of the morphogenetic response.

Cytokinins and auxins are indispensable for maintaining undifferentiated cells in proliferation during in vitro culture and are the hormones most directly linked to cell proliferation. A detailed review by Jacqmard et al. (59) suggests that cytokinins have effects on the G_1/S and G_2/M transitions, as well as on progression through S phase. Cytokinins and brassinosteroids induce the expression of *CYCD3*; *1* (5, 22, 107), and the overexpression of *CYCD3*; *1* conferred cytokinin-autotrophic initiation and growth of *Arabidopsis* leaf calli, showing that in this system high levels of CYCD3;1 are sufficient to replace exogenous cytokinin (107). A mutation in the RPN12 subunit of the 26S proteasome conferred cytokinin insensitivity and a partially constitutive cytokinin response such as anthocyanin accumulation and inhibition of root growth and lateral root development. Interestingly, this mutation also conferred overexpression of *CYCD3*; *1* and *NIA1* (119). Therefore, it seems that pathways involving brassinosteroid and cytokinin signaling converge on *CYCD3*; *1* expression, which promotes entry into the mitotic cell cycle.

Tobacco BY2 cells do not require exogenous cytokinin, and zeatin-type cytokinins accumulate at the end of S phase and early M phase (102). Inhibition of isoprenoid biosynthesis at the G_2/M transition combined with rescue of the inhibition of mitosis by exogenous zeatin showed that this transition requires these zeatin-type cytokinins (72), which might be linked to the nuclear localization reported for this type of cytokinin (27). G_1 progression was not as dependent on cytokinins in these highly proliferating cultures (73). Similarly, in a cytokinindependent *N. plumbaginifolia* cell suspension culture cells arrested in G_2 owing to the lack of cytokinins. Cytokinin induced dephosphorylation and hence activation of CDKA in these *N. plumbaginifolia* cells in G_2 , as well as in tobacco pith cells grown in the presence of auxin alone (146). Cytokinin is therefore linked with CDK activation at the G_2/M boundary either by direct activation of a phosphatase or by downregulation of the WEE1 kinase.

Cell division is inhibited by abscisic acid. Abscisic acid induces the expression of the CDK inhibitor *KRP1/ICK1*, causing a decrease in the kinase activity associated with CDKA (138). Abscisic acid prevents tobacco BY2 cells from entering S phase but does not affect the progression through the other cell-cycle phases, consistent with the role of *KRP1/ICK1* in regulating CDKA/CYCD3 activity (138). Jasmonic acid application during G₁ prevented DNA synthesis, whereas jasmonic acid application during early S phase had only a minor effect on DNA synthesis but inhibited M phase progression (128). Ethylene treatment of cell suspensions provoked cell death at the G₂/M boundary (50).

CONCLUSION

As in other eukaryotes, the cell cycle is driven by CDK-controlled phosphorylation. In plants the core cell-cycle players have been identified, and it is clear that there is a larger number of genes than in animals, as well as completely new types of regulators including novel CDKs and E2F-like proteins. This complexity poses a challenge in the unravelling of the rules of this complex game. In particular, the mechanisms by which signal transduction cascades and developmental regulation impinges on the cell cycle are still largely unknown. However, considerable progress has been made, and the application of genomics tools is likely to lead to rapid further advances.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Research in J. Murray's laboratory is funded by BBSRC and the EU. The authors are very grateful for the contribution by Graham Armstrong to the manuscript.

The Annual Review of Plant Biology is online at http://plant.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

 Ach RA, Durfee T, Miller AB, Zambryski PC, Hanley-Bowdoin L, Gruissem W. 1997. *RRB1* and *RRB2* encode maize retinoblastoma-related proteins that interact with a plant D-type cyclin and geminivirus replication protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17:5077–86

2. Albani D, Mariconti L, Ricagno S, Pitto

L, Moroni C, et al. 2000. DcE2F, a functional plant E2F-like transcriptional activator from *Daucus carota*. J. Biol. Chem. 275:19258–67

- Amino S, Fujimura T, Komamine A. 1983. Synchrony induced by double phosphate starvation in a suspension culture of *Catharanthus roseus*. *Physiol. Plant*. 59:393–96
- Ayaydin F, Vissi E, Mészáros T, Miskolczi P, Kovács I, et al. 2000. Inhibition of serine/threonine-specific protein phosphatases causes premature activation of cdc2MsF kinase at G2/M transition and early mitotic microtubule organisation in alfalfa. *Plant J.* 23:85–96
- 5. Beeckman T, Burssens S, Inze D. 2001. The peri-cell-cycle in *Arabidopsis*. J. *Exp. Bot.* 52:403–11
- Binarova P, Dolezel J, Draber P, Heberle-Bors E, Strnad M, Bögre L. 1998. Treatment of *Vicia faba* root tip cells with specific inhibitors to cyclin-dependent kinases leads to abnormal spindle formation. *Plant J.* 16:697–707
- Bourne Y, Watson MH, Hickey MJ, Holmes W, Rocque W, et al. 1996. Crystal structure and mutational analysis of the human CDK2 kinase complex with cell cycle-regulatory protein CksHs1. *Cell* 84:863–74
- Castellano MM, del Pozo JC, Ramirez-Parra E, Brown S, Gutierrez C. 2001. Expression and stability of *Arabidopsis* CDC6 are associated with endoreplication. *Plant Cell* 13:2671–86
- Cebolla A, Vinardell JM, Kiss E, Oláh B, Roudier F, et al. 1999. The mitotic inhibitor *ccs52* is required for endoreduplication and ploidy-dependent cell enlargement in plants. *EMBO J.* 18:4476– 84
- Chabouté ME, Clément B, Philipps G. 2002. S phase and meristem-specific expression of the tobacco RNR1b gene is mediated by an E2F element located in the 5' leader sequence. J. Biol. Chem. 277:17845–51

- Chabouté ME, Clément B, Sekine M, Philipps G, Chaubet-Gigot N. 2000. Cell cycle regulation of the tobacco ribonucleotide reductase small subunit gene is mediated by E2F-like elements. *Plant Cell* 12:1987–2000
- Chaubet-Gigot N. 2000. Plant A-type cyclins. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 43:659–75
- Chin-Atkins AN, Craig S, Hocart CH, Dennis ES, Chaudhury AM. 1996. Increased endogenous cytokinin in the *Arabidopsis* amp1 mutant corresponds with de-etiolation responses. *Planta* 198:549–56
- Cleary AL, Fowke LC, Wang H, John PCL. 2002. The effect of ICK1, a plant cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, on mitosis in living plant cells. *Plant Cell Rep.* 20:814–20
- Colasanti J, Cho SO, Wick S, Sundaresan V. 1993. Localization of the functional p34^{cdc2} homolog of maize in root tip and stomatal complex cells: association with predicted division sites. *Plant Cell* 5:1101–11
- Colón-Carmona A, You R, Haimovitch-Gal T, Doerner P. 1999. Spatio-temporal analysis of mitotic activity with a labile cyclin-GUS fusion protein. *Plant J*. 20:503–8
- Criqui MC, Parmentier Y, Derevier A, Shen WH, Dong A, Genschik P. 2000. Cell cycle-dependent proteolysis and ectopic overexpression of cyclin B1 in tobacco BY2 cells. *Plant J.* 24:763–73
- Criqui MC, Weingartner M, Capron A, Parmentier Y, Shen WH, et al. 2001. Sub-cellular localisation of GFP-tagged tobacco mitotic cyclins during the cell cycle and after spindle checkpoint activation. *Plant J.* 28:569–81
- Dahl M, Meskiene I, Bögre L, Ha DTC, Swoboda I, et al. 1995. The D-type alafalfa cyclin gene *cycMs4* complements G1 cyclin-deficient yeast and is induced in the G1 phase of the cell cycle. *Plant Cell* 7:1847–57
- 20. Day IS, Reddy AS, Golovkin M. 1996.

Isolation of a new mitotic-like cyclin from *Arabidopsis*: complementation of a yeast cyclin mutant with a plant cyclin. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 30:565–75

- 21. de Jager SM, Menges M, Bauer UM, Murray JAH. 2001. Arabidopsis E2F1 binds a sequence present in the promoter of S-phase-regulated gene AtCDC6 and is a member of a multigene family with differential activities. Plant Mol. Biol. 47:555–68
- de Jager SM, Murray JAH. 1999. Retinoblastoma proteins in plants. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 41:295–99
- 23. De Veylder L, Beeckman T, Beemster GT, de Almeida Engler J, Ormenese S, et al. 2002. Control of proliferation, endoreduplication and differentiation by the *Arabidopsis* E2Fa-DPa transcription factor. *EMBO J.* 21:1360–68
- 24. De Veylder L, Beeckman T, Beemster GT, Krols L, Terras F, et al. 2001. Functional analysis of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors of *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 13:1653–68
- 25. De Veylder L, de Almeida Engler J, Burssens S, Manevski A, Lescure B, et al. 1999. A new D-type cyclin of *Arabidopsis thaliana* expressed during lateral root primordia formation. *Planta* 208:453–62
- 26. De Veylder L, Segers G, Glab N, Casteels P, Van Montagu M, Inze D. 1997. The *Arabidopsis* Cks1At protein binds the cyclin-dependent kinases Cdc2aAt and Cdc2bAt. *FEBS Lett.* 412:446–52
- 27. Dewitte W, Chiappetta A, Azmi A, Witters E, Strnad M, et al. 1999. Dynamics of cytokinins in apical shoot meristems of a day-neutral tobacco during floral transition and flower formation. *Plant Physiol.* 119:111–22
- Dewitte W, Riou-Khamlichi C, Scofield S, Healy JMS, Jacqmard A, et al. 2003. Altered cell cycle distribution, hyperplasia and inhibited differentiation in *Arabidopsis* caused by the D-type cyclin CYCD3. *Plant Cell*. 15:79–92

- Doerner P, Jørgensen JE, You R, Steppuhn J, Lamb C. 1996. Control of root growth and development by cyclin expression. *Nature* 380:520–23
- Donnelly PM, Bonetta D, Tsukaya H, Dengler RE, Dengler NG. 1999. Cell cycling and cell enlargement in developing leaves of *Arabidopsis*. *Dev. Biol.* 215:407–19
- 31. Elliott RC, Betzner AS, Huttner E, Oakes MP, Tucker WQ, et al. 1996. AINTEGU-MENTA, an APETALA2-like gene of *Arabidopsis* with pleiotropic roles in ovule development and floral organ growth. *Plant Cell* 8:155–68
- Espunya MC, Combettes B, Dot J, Chaubet-Gigot N, Martínez MC. 1999. Cell-cycle modulation of CK2 activity in tobacco BY-2 cells. *Plant J.* 19:655–66
- 33. Evans T, Rosenthal ET, Youngblom J, Distel D, Hunt T. 1983. Cyclin: a protein specified by maternal mRNA in sea urchin eggs that is destroyed at each cleavage division. *Cell* 33:389–96
- Fabian-Marwedel T, Umeda M, Sauter M. 2002. The rice cyclin-dependent kinase-activating kinase R2 regulates Sphase progression. *Plant Cell* 14:197– 210
- 35. Fobert PR, Coen ES, Murphy GJP, Doonan JH. 1994. Patterns of cell division revealed by transcriptional regulation of genes during the cell cycle in plants. *EMBO J.* 13:616–24
- 36. Fobert PR, Gaudin V, Lunness P, Coen ES, Doonan JH. 1996. Distinct classes of *cdc2*-related genes are differentially expressed during the cell division cycle in plants. *Plant Cell* 8:1465–76
- Foucher F, Kondorosi E. 2000. Cell cycle regulation in the course of nodule organogenesis in *Medicago*. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 43:773–86
- Fuerst RAUA, Soni R, Murray JAH, Lindsey K. 1996. Modulation of cyclin transcript levels in cultured cells of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Physiol*. 112:1023–33

- Galbraith DW, Harkins KR, Knapp S. 1991. Systemic endopolyploidy in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiol. 96: 985–89
- 40. Gaudin V, Lunness PA, Fobert PR, Towers M, Riou-Khamlichi C, et al. 2000. The expression of *D-cyclin* genes defines distinct developmental zones in snapdragon apical meristems and is locally regulated by the *Cycloidea* gene. *Plant Physiol.* 122:1137–48
- 41. Genschik P, Criqui MC, Parmentier Y, Derevier A, Fleck J. 1998. Cell cycledependent proteolysis in plants. Identification of the destruction box pathway and metaphase arrest produced by the proteasome inhibitor MG132. *Plant Cell* 10:2063–76
- Gould AR. 1984. Control of the cell cycle in cultured plant cells. CRC Crit. Rev. Plant Sci. 1:315–44
- 43. Grafi G, Burnett RJ, Helentjaris T, Larkins BA, DeCaprio JA, et al. 1996. A maize cDNA encoding a member of the retinoblastoma protein family involvement in endoreduplication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93:8962–67
- 44. Grafi G, Larkins BA. 1995. Endoreduplication in maize endosperm: involvement of M phase-promoting factor inhibition and induction of S phase-related kinases. *Science* 269:1262–64
- Hata S. 1991. cDNA cloning of a novel cdc2⁺/CDC28-related protein kinase from rice. *FEBS Lett.* 279:149–52
- Hata S, Kouchi H, Suzuka I, Ishii T. 1991. Isolation and characterization of cDNA clones for plant cyclins. *EMBO J*. 10:2681–88
- 47. Healy JMS, Menges M, Doonan JH, Murray JAH. 2001. The Arabidopsis Dtype cyclins CycD2 and CycD3 both interact in vivo with the PSTAIRE cyclin-dependent kinase Cdc2a but are differentially controlled. J. Biol. Chem. 276:7041–47
- Hemerly A, Bergounioux C, Van Montagu M, Inzé D, Ferreira P. 1992. Genes

regulating the plant cell cycle: isolation of a mitotic-like cyclin from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:3295–99

- Hemerly A, Engler JDA, Bergounioux C, Van Montagu M, Engler G, et al. 1995. Dominant negative mutants of the cdc2 kinase uncouple cell-division from iterative plant development. *EMBO J*. 14:3925–36
- Herbert RJ, Vilhar B, Evett C, Orchard CB, Rogers HJ, et al. 2001. Ethylene induces cell death at particular phases of the cell cycle in the tobacco TBY-2 cell line. *J. Exp. Bot.* 52:1615–23
- Hirt H, Mink M, Pfosser M, Bögre L, Györgyey J, et al. 1992. Alfalfa cyclins: differential expression during the cell cycle and in plant organs. *Plant Cell* 4:1531–38
- Hu Y, Bao F, Li J. 2000. Promotive effect of brassinosteroids on cell division involves a distinct CycD3-induction pathway in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J*. 24:693–701
- 53. Huntley R, Healy S, Freeman D, Lavender P, de Jager S, et al. 1998. The maize retinoblastoma protein homologue ZmRb-1 is regulated during leaf development and displays conserved interactions with G1/S regulators and plant cyclin D (CycD) proteins. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 37:155–69
- Huntley RP, Murray JAH. 1999. The plant cell cycle. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 2:440–46
- 55. Ito M, Araki S, Matsunaga S, Itoh T, Nishihama R, et al. 2001. G2/Mphase-specific transcription during the plant cell cycle is mediated by c-Myblike transcription factors. *Plant Cell* 13:1891–905
- Ito M, Criqui MC, Sakabe M, Ohno T, Hata S, et al. 1997. Cell-cycle-regulated transcription of A- and B-type plant cyclin genes in synchronous cultures. *Plant* J. 11:983–92
- 57. Ito M, Iwase M, Kodama H, Lavisse P, Komamine A, et al. 1998. A novel

cis-acting element in promoters of plant B-type cyclin genes activates M phasespecific transcription. *Plant Cell* 10:331– 41

- 58. Jacqmard A, De Veylder L, Segers G, de Almeida Engler J, Bernier G, et al. 1999. Expression of *CKS1At* in *Arabidopsis thaliana* indicates a role for the protein in both the mitotic and the endoreduplication cycle. *Planta* 207:496–504
- Jacqmard A, Houssa C, Bernier G. 1994. Regulation of the cell cycle by cytokinins. In *Cytokinins: Chemistry, Activity and Function*, ed. DWS Mok, MC Mok, pp. 197–215. Boca Raton/Ann Arbor/London/Tokyo: CRC
- Jeffrey PD, Russo AA, Polyak K, Gibbs E, Hurwitz J, et al. 1995. Mechanism of cdk activation revealed by the structure of a cyclin A-CDK2 complex. *Nature* 376:313–20
- Joubès J, Chevalier C. 2000. Endoreduplication in higher plants. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 43:735–45
- Joubès J, Chevalier C, Dudits D, Heberle-Bors E, Inzé D, et al. 2000. CDK-related protein kinases in plants. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 43:607–20
- 63. Joubès J, Lemaire-Chamley M, Delmas F, Walter J, Hernould M, et al. 2001. A new C-type cyclin-dependent kinase from tomato expressed in dividing tissues does not interact with mitotic and G1 cyclins. *Plant Physiol.* 126:1403–15
- 64a. Kapros T, Bögre L, Németh K, Bakó L, Györgyey J, et al. 1992. Differential expression of histone H3 gene variants during cell cycle and somatic embryogenesis in alfalfa. *Plant Physiol.* 98:621– 25
- 64b. Kaya H, Shibahara KI, Taoka KI, Iwabuchi M, Stillman B, Araki T. 2001. *FASCIATA* genes for chromatin assembly factor-1 in *Arabidopsis* maintain the cellular organization of apical meristems. *Cell* 104:131–42
- 65. King PJ, Cox BJ, Fowler MW, Street HE. 1974. Metabolic events in synchronized

cell cultures of *Acer pseudoplatanus* L. *Planta* 117:109–22

- 65a. King RW, Deshaies RJ, Peters JM, Kirschner MW. 1996. How proteolysis drives the cell cycle. *Science* 274:1652– 59
 - Kost B, Bao YQ, Chua NH. 2002. Cytoskeleton and plant organogenesis. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London B.* 357:777– 89
 - 67. Kosugi S, Ohashi Y. 2002. E2F sites that can interact with E2F proteins cloned from rice are required for meristematic tissue-specific expression of rice and tobacco proliferating cell nuclear antigen promoters. *Plant J.* 29:45–59
- 68. Kosugi S, Ohashi Y. 2002. E2Ls, E2Flike repressors of *Arabidopsis* that bind to E2F sites in a monomeric form. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277:16553–58
- 69. Kosugi S, Ohashi Y. 2002. Interaction of the *Arabidopsis* E2F and DP proteins confers their concomitant nuclear translocation and transactivation. *Plant Physiol.* 128:833–43
- Kouchi H, Sekine M, Hata S. 1995. Distinct classes of mitotic cyclins are differentially expressed in the soybean shoot apex during the cell cycle. *Plant Cell* 7:1143–55
- Lapidot-Lifson Y, Patinkin D, Prody CA, Ehrlich G, Seidman S, et al. 1992. Cloning and antisense oligodeoxynucleotide inhibition of a human homolog of *cdc2* required in hematopoiesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89:579–83
- Laureys F, Dewitte W, Witters E, Van Montagu M, Inze D, Van Onckelen H. 1998. Zeatin is indispensable for the G2-M transition in tobacco BY-2 cells. *FEBS Lett.* 426:29–32
- Laureys F, Smets R, Lenjou M, Van Bockstaele D, Inze D, Van Onckelen H. 1999. A low content in zeatin type cytokinins is not restrictive for the occurrence of G1/S transition in tobacco BY-2 cells. *FEBS Lett.* 460:123–28
- 73a. Lessard P, Bouly JP, Jouannic S, Kreis

M, Thomas M. 1999. Identification of cdc2cAt: a new cyclin-dependent kinase expressed in *Arabidopsis thaliana* flowers. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1445:351–58

- 74. Lui H, Wang H, Delong C, Fowke LC, Crosby WL, Fobert PR. 2000. The Arabidopsis Cdc2a-interacting protein ICK2 is structurally related to ICK1 and is a potent inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinase activity in vitro. Plant J. 21:379–85
- Mader JC, Hanke DE. 1996. Immunocytochemical study of cell cycle control by cytokinin in cultured soybean cells. *J. Plant Growth Regul.* 15:95–102
- 76. Magyar Z, Mészáros T, Miskolczi P, Deák M, Fehér A, et al. 1997. Cell cycle phase specificity of putative cyclindependent kinase variants in synchronized alfalfa cells. *Plant Cell* 9:223–35
- Mariconti L, Pellegrini B, Cantoni R, Stevens R, Bergounioux C, et al. 2002. The E2F family of transcription factors from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Novel and conserved components of the retinoblastoma/E2F pathway in plants. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277:9911–19
- 78. Mayr E. 1982. The Growth of the Biological Thought. Cambridge, MA: Belknap
- Meijer M, Murray JAH. 2000. The role and regulation of D-type cyclins in the plant cell cycle. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 43:621– 33
- Menges M, Hennig L, Gruissem W, Murray JAH. 2002. Microarray analysis of cell cycle regulated gene expression in *Arabidopsis. J. Biol. Chem.* 277:41987– 2002
- Menges M, Murray JAH. 2002. Synchronous *Arabidopsis* suspension cultures for analysis of cell cycle gene activity. *Plant J.* 30:203–12
- 82. Meskiene I, Bögre L, Dahl M, Pirck M, Ha DT, et al. 1995. *cycMs3*, a novel Btype alfalfa cyclin gene, is induced in the G_0 -to- G_1 transition of the cell cycle. *Plant Cell* 7:759–71
- 83. Mészáros T, Miskolczi P, Ayaydin F,

Pettkó-Szandtner A, Peres A, et al. 2000. Multiple cyclin-dependent kinase complexes and phosphatases control G_2/M progression in alfalfa cells. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 43:595–605

- 84. Mews M, Sek FJ, Moore R, Volkmann D, Gunning BES, John PCL. 1997. Mitotic cyclin distribution during maize cell division: implications for the sequence diversity and function of cyclins in plants. *Protoplasma* 200:128–45
- 85. Mews M, Sek FJ, Volkmann D, John PCL. 2000. Immunodetection of four mitotic cyclins and the Cdc2a protein kinase in maize root: their distribution in cell development and dedifferentiation. *Protoplasma* 212:236–49
- Meyerowitz EM. 2002. Plants compared to animals: the broadest comparative study of development. *Science* 295:1482–85
- Mizukami Y, Fischer RL. 2000. Plant organ size control: *AINTEGUMENTA* regulates growth and cell numbers during organogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 97:942–47
- Murray JAH, Freeman D, Greenwood J, Huntley R, Makkerh J, et al. 1998. Plant D cyclins and retinoblastoma (Rb) protein homologues. See Ref. 149, pp. 99– 127
- Nagata T, Nemoto Y, Hasezawa S. 1992. Tobacco BY-2 cell line as the "HeLa" cell in the cell biology of higher plants. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 132:1–30
- 90. Nakagami H, Kawamura K, Sugisaka K, Sekine M, Shinmyo A. 2002. Phosphorylation of retinoblastoma-related protein by the cyclin D/cyclin-dependent kinase complex is activated at the G1/S-phase transition in tobacco. *Plant Cell* 14:1847–57
- Nakagami H, Sekine M, Murakami H, Shinmyo A. 1999. Tobacco retinoblastoma-related protein phosphorylated by a distinct cyclin-dependent kinase complex with Cdc2/cyclin D *in vitro*. *Plant* J. 18:243–52

- 92. Nishihama R, Soyano T, Ishikawa M, Araki S, Tanaka H, et al. 2002. Expansion of the cell plate in plant cytokinesis requires a kinesin-like protein/ MAPKKK complex. *Cell* 109:87–99
- Noble ME, Endicott JA, Brown NR, Johnson LN. 1997. The cyclin box fold: protein recognition in cell-cycle and transcription control. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 22:482–87
- Oakenfull EA, Riou-Khamlichi C, Murray JAH. 2002. Plant D-type cyclins (CycDs) and the control of G1 progression. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London B.* 357:749–60
- Pines J. 1995. Cyclins and cyclindependent kinases: theme and variations. *Adv. Cancer Res.* 66:181–212
- Planchais S, Glab N, Inzé D, Bergounioux C. 2000. Chemical inhibitors: a tool for plant cell cycle studies. *FEBS Lett.* 476:78–83
- 97. Planchais S, Perennes C, Glab N, Mironov V, Inzé D, Bergounioux C. 2002. Characterization of *cis*-acting element involved in cell cycle phaseindependent activation of Arath; *CycB1;1* transcription and identification of putative regulatory proteins. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 50:111–27
- 98. Porceddu A, Stals H, Reichheld JP, Segers G, De Veylder L, et al. 2001. A plant-specific cyclin-dependent kinase is involved in the control of G₂/M progression in plants. J. Biol. Chem. 276:36354– 60
- 99. Qin LX, Perennes C, Richard L, Bouvier-Durand M, Tréhin C, et al. 1996. G2and early-M-specific expression of the *NTCYC1* cyclin gene in *Nicotiana tabacum* cells. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 32:1093– 101
- 100. Ramirez-Parra E, Xie Q, Boniotti MB, Gutierrez C. 1999. The cloning of plant E2F, a retinoblastoma-binding protein, reveals unique and conserved features with animal G₁/S regulators. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 27:3527–33

- 101. Ramos GBA, de Almeida Engler J, Ferreira PCG, Hemerly AS. 2001. DNA replication in plants: characterization of a *cdc6* homologue from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J. Exp. Biol. 52:2239–40
- 102. Redig P, Shaul O, Inzé D, Van Montagu M, Van Onckelen H. 1996. Levels of endogenous cytokinins, indole-3acetic-acid and abscisic-acid during the cell-cycle of synchronized tobacco by-2 cells. FEBS Lett. 391:175–80
- 103. Reichheld JP, Chaubet N, Shen WH, Renaudin JP, Gigot C. 1996. Multiple Atype cyclins express sequentially during the cell cycle in *Nicotiana tabacum* BY2 cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93:13819–24
- 104. Reichheld JP, Vernoux T, Lardon F, Van Montagu M, Inze D. 1999. Specific checkpoints regulate plant cell cycle progression in response to oxidative stress. *Plant J.* 17:647–56
- 105. Renaudin JP, Doonan JH, Freeman D, Hashimoto J, Hirt H, et al. 1996. Plant cyclins: a unified nomenclature for plant A-, B- and D-type cyclins based on sequence organization. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 32:1003–18
- 106. Renaudin JP, Savouré A, Philippe H, Van Montague M, Inzé D, Rouzé P. 1998. Characterization and classification of plant cyclin sequences related to Aand B-type cyclins. See Ref. 149, pp. 67– 98
- 107. Riou-Khamlichi C, Huntley R, Jacqmard A, Murray JAH. 1999. Cytokinin activation of *Arabidopsis* cell division through a D-type cyclin. *Science* 283:1541–44
- Riou-Khamlichi C, Menges M, Healy JM, Murray JAH. 2000. Sugar control of the plant cell cycle: differential regulation of *Arabidopsis* D-type cyclin gene expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 20:4513– 21
- 109. Rossignol P, Stevens R, Perennes C, Jasinski S, Cella R, et al. 2002. AtE2Fa and AtDP-a, members of the E2F family of transcription factors, induce

Arabidopsis leaf cells to re-enter S phase. *Mol. Genet. Genom.* 266:995–1003

- 110. Roudier F, Fedorova E, Györgyey J, Feher A, Brown S, et al. 2000. Cell cycle function of a *Medicago sativa* A2-type cyclin interacting with a PSTAIRE-type cyclin-dependent kinase and a retinoblastoma protein. *Plant J.* 23:73–83
- 111. Sala F, Galli MG, Pedrali-Noy G, Spadari S. 1986. Synchronization of plant cells in culture and in meristems by aphidicolin. *Methods Enzymol.* 118:87– 96
- 112. Sauter M. 1997. Differential expression of a CAK (cdc2-activating kinase)-like protein kinase, cyclins and cdc2 genes from rice during the cell cycle and in response to gibberellin. *Plant J.* 11:181–90
- 113. Schnittger A, Schobinger U, Stierhof YD, Hulskamp M. 2002. Ectopic Btype cyclin expression induces mitotic cycles in endoreduplicating *Arabidopsis* trichomes. *Curr. Biol.* 12:415–20
- 114. Segers G, Gadisseur I, Bergounioux C, de Almeida Engler J, Jacqmard A, et al. 1996. The *Arabidopsis* cyclin-dependent kinase gene *cdc2bAt* is preferentially expressed during S and G₂ phases of the cell cycle. *Plant J*. 10:601–12
- 115. Sekine M, Ito M, Uemukai K, Maeda Y, Nakagami H, Shinmyo A. 1999. Isolation and characterization of the E2F-like gene in plants. *FEBS Lett.* 460:117–22
- 116. Setiady YY, Sekine M, Hariguchi N, Yamamoto T, Kouchi H, Shinmyo A. 1995. Tobacco mitotic cyclins: cloning, characterization, gene expression and functional assay. *Plant J.* 8:949–57
- 117. Shaul O, Mironov V, Burssens S, Van Montagu M, Inzé D. 1996. Two Arabidopsis cyclin promoters mediate distinctive transcriptional oscillation in synchronized tobacco BY-2 cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93:4868–72
- Sherr CJ. 1993. Mammalian G₁ cyclins. *Cell* 73:1059–65
- Smalle J, Kurepa J, Yang P, Babiychuk E, Kushnir S, et al. 2002. Cytokinin growth

responses in *Arabidopsis* involve the 26S proteasome subunit RPN12. *Plant Cell* 14:17–32

- 120. Soni R, Carmichael JP, Shah ZH, Murray JAH. 1995. A family of cyclin D homologs from plants differentially controlled by growth regulators and containing the conserved retinoblastoma protein interaction motif. *Plant Cell* 7:85–103
- 121. Sorrell DA, Combettes B, Chaubet-Gigot N, Gigot C, Murray JAH. 1999. Distinct cyclin D genes show mitotic accumulation or constant levels of transcripts in tobacco bright yellow-2 cells. *Plant Physiol.* 119:343–52
- 122. Sorrell DA, Marchbank A, McMahon K, Dickinson JR, Rogers HJ, Francis D. 2002. A WEE1 homologue from *Ara-bidopsis thaliana*. *Planta* 215:518–22
- 123. Sorrell DA, Menges M, Healy JM, Deveaux Y, Amano C, et al. 2001. Cell cycle regulation of cyclin-dependent kinases in tobacco cultivar bright yellow-2 cells. *Plant Physiol.* 126:1214–23
- Staehelin LA, Hepler PK. 1996. Cytokinesis in higher plants. *Cell* 84:821–24
- 125. Stals H, Bauwens S, Traas J, Van Montagu M, Engler G, Inze D. 1997. Plant CDC2 is not only targeted to the preprophase band, but also co-localizes with the spindle, phragmoplast, and chromosomes. *FEBS Lett.* 418:229–34
- 126. Steinborn K, Maulbetsch C, Priester B, Trautmann S, Pacher T, et al. 2002. The Arabidopsis PILZ group genes encode tubulin-folding cofactor orthologs required for cell division but not cell growth. Genes Dev. 16:959–71
- 127. Sun Y, Dilkes BP, Zhang C, Dante RA, Carneiro NP, et al. 1999. Characterization of maize (*Zea mays* L.) Weel and its activity in developing endosperm. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96:4180–85
- 128. Swiatek A, Lenjou M, Van Bockstaele D, Inze D, Van Onckelen H. 2002. Differential effect of jasmonic acid and abscisic acid on cell cycle progression in tobacco

BY-2 cells. Plant Physiol. 128:201-11

- 129. Tréhin C, Ahn IO, Perennes C, Couteau F, Lalanne E, Bergounioux C. 1997. Cloning of upstream sequences responsible for cell cycle regulation of the *Nicotiana sylvestris* CycB1;1 gene. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 35:667–72
- 130. Tréhin C, Glab N, Perennes C, Planchais S, Bergounioux B. 1999. M phasespecific activation of the *Nicotiana* sylvestris cyclin B1 promoter involves multiple regulatory elements. *Plant J.* 17:263–73
- 131. Umeda M, Bhalerao RP, Schell J, Uchimiya H, Koncz C. 1998. A distinct cyclin-dependent kinase-activating kinase of Arabidopsis thaliana. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:5021–26
- 132. Umeda M, Umeda-Hara C, Uchimiya H. 2000. A cyclin-dependent kinase-activating kinase regulates differentiation of root initial cells in *Arabidopsis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 97:13396–400
- 133. Deleted in proof
- 134. Vandepoele K, Raes J, De Veylder L, Rouzé P, Rombauts S, Inzé D. 2002. Genome-wide analysis of core cell cycle genes in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Cell* 14:903– 16
- Vantard M, Cowling R, Delichere C. 2000. Cell cycle regulation of the microtubular cytoskeleton. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 43:691–703
- 135a. Van't Hof J. 1985. Control points within the cell cycle. In *The Cell Division Cycle in Plants*, ed. JA Bryant, D Francis, pp. 1–13. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press.
- Wang G, Miskimins R, Miskimins WK. 1999. The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27^{Kip1} is localized to the cytosol in Swiss/3T3 cells. *Oncogene* 18:5204– 10
- Wang H, Fowke LC, Crosby WL. 1997. A plant cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor gene. *Nature* 386:451–52
- 138. Wang H, Qi Q, Schorr P, Cutler AJ,

Crosby WL, Fowke LC. 1998. ICK1, a cyclin-dependent protein kinase inhibitor from *Arabidopsis thaliana* interacts with both Cdc2a and CycD3, and its expression is induced by abscisic acid. *Plant J.* 15:501–10

- 139. Wang H, Zhou Y, Gilmer S, Whitwill S, Fowke LC. 2000. Expression of the plant cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor ICK1 affects cell division, plant growth and morphology. *Plant J.* 24:613– 23
- 140. Wasteneys G, Galway M. 2003. Remodeling the cytoskeletion for growth and form: an overview with some new views. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.* 54:691–722
- 141. Weingartner M, Binarova P, Drykova D, Schweighofer A, David JP, et al. 2001. Dynamic recruitment of Cdc2 to specific microtubule structures during mitosis. *Plant Cell* 13:1929–43
- 142. Wyrzykowska J, Pien S, Shen WH, Fleming AJ. 2002. Manipulation of leaf shape by modulation of cell division. *Development* 129:957–64
- 143. Yamaguchi M, Fabian T, Sauter M, Bhalerao RP, Schrader J, et al. 2000. Activation of CDK-activating kinase is dependent on interaction with H-type cyclins in plants. *Plant* 24:11–20
- 144. Yamaguchi M, Umeda M, Uchimiya H. 1998. A rice homolog of Cdk7/MO15 phosphorylates both cyclin-dependent protein kinases and the carboxy-terminal domain of RNA polymerase II. *Plant J*. 16:613–19
- 145. Yoshizumi T, Nagata N, Shimada H, Matsui M. 1999. An Arabidopsis cell cycle-dependent kinase-related gene, *CDC2b*, plays a role in regulating seedling growth in darkness. *Plant Cell* 11:1883–96
- 146. Zhang K, Letham DS, John PC. 1996. Cytokinin controls the cell cycle at mitosis by stimulating the tyrosine dephosphorylation and activation of p34cdc2like H1 histone kinase. *Planta* 200:2– 12

- 147. Zhou Y, Fowke LC, Wang H. 2002. Plant CDK inhibitors: studies of interactions with cell cycle regulators in the yeast two-hybrid system and functional comparisons in transgenic Arabidopsis plants. Plant Cell Rep. 20:967–75
- 148. Zhou Y, Wang H, Gilmer S, Whitwill

S, Keller W, Fowke LC. 2002. Control of petal and pollen development by the plant cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor ICK1 in transgenic Brassica plants. *Planta* 215:248–57

149. Francis D, Dudits D, Inzé D, eds. 1998. *Plant Cell Division*. London: Portland